
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

cxs, xo. 1* - :vp/ qszy -llvq/pï?

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

V.

LATAM  AIRLINES GROUP S.A.,

Defendant.

/

DEFERRED PROSECUTION AG REEM ENT

Defendant LATAM AIRLm ES GROUP S.A. (the Ctcompanf'), pursuant to authority

granted by the Company's Board of Directors, and the United States Department of Justice,

Criminal Division, Fraud Section (the ttoffice''l, enter into this deferred prosecution agreement

(the tçAgreemenf).

Crim inal Information and Acceptance of Responsibilitv

The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Office will file the attached two-

count criminal Information in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida

charging the Company with (i) violating the internal controls provisions of the Foreign Corrupt

Practices Act of 1977 (:EFCPA''), as amended, 15 U.S.C. jj 78m(b)(2)(B), 78m(b)(5), and

78ff(a); and (ii) violating the FCPA'S books and records provisions, 1 5 U.S.C. jj 78m(b)(2)(A),

78m(b)(5), and 78ff(a). ln so doing, the Company: (a) knowingly waives its right to indictment

on this charge, as well as a11 rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the

United States Constitution, Title 18, United Stm es Code, Section 31 61, and Federal Rule of

Criminal Procedure 48(b); and (b) knowingly waives any objection with respect to venue to any
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charges by the United Stdtes arising out of the conduct described in the attached Statement of

Facts and consents to the fsling of the lnformation, as provided under the term s of this

Agreement, in the United Sutes District Court for the Southern District of Florida.

2. The Company admits, accepts, and acknowledges that it is responsible under

United States 1aw for the acts of its officers, directors, employees, and agents as charged in the

Information, and as set forth in the attached Statement of Facts, and that the allegations described

in the lnformation and the facts described in Attachment A are true and accurate. Should the

Offsce pursue the prosecution that is deferred by this Agreement, the Com pany stipulates to the

admissibility of the Statement of Facts in any proceeding, including any trial, guilty plea, or

sentencing proceeding, and will not contradict anything in the Statement of Facts at any such

proceeding.

Term of the Aereem ent

This Agreement is effective for a period beginning on the date on which the

lnfonuation is filed and ending three (3) years from the later of the date on which the

lnformation is filed or the date on which the independent compliance monitor (the ttMonitor'') is

relined by the Company, as described in Paragraphs l 1-13 below (the tETenn''). The Company

agrees, however, that, in the event the Oftsce determines, in its sole discretion, that the Company

has knowingly violated any provision of this Agreement, an extension or extensions of the term

of the Agreement may be imposed by the Office, in its sole discretion, for up to a total additional

time period of one year, without prejudice to the Office's right to proceed as provided in

Paragraphs 1 7-19 below. Any extenjion of the Agreement extends all terms of this Agreement,

including the terms of the monitorship or reporting requirem ent in Atlchment D, for an

equivalent period. Conversely, in the event the Office finds, in its sole discretion, that there

2
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exists a change in circum stances sufficient to eliminate the need for the monitorship or reporting

requirement in Attachment D, and that the other provisions of this Agreem ent have been

satisfied, the Term of the Agreement may be terminated early. If the Court rejects the

Agreement, aIl the provisions of the Agreement shall be deemed null and void, and the Term

shall be deemed to have not begun.

Relevant Considerations

The Office enters into this Agreement based on the individual facts and4
.

circumstances presented by this case and the Company.Among the factors considered were the

following'.

(a) the Company did not timely voluntarily disclose the FCPA violations to the Office; it

began cooperating with the Oftice in the investigation of the m atter only after the

publication of press reports in Argentina appearing approximately four years after the

criminal conduct in 2006-07 that stated that both Argentine and Chilean law

enforcement officials had comm enced investigations of the conduct;

(b) because of the delayed disclosure, potentially relevant evidence was lost or

destroyed, including through the routine application of da1 retention policies;

(c) the Company fully cooperated with the Office's investigation and provided all

relevant facts known to the Company, including information about individuals

involved in the misconduct;

(d) the Company had an inadequate compliance program at the time of the criminal

conduct',

(e) the Company now has designed and is implementing a compliance program and

system of internal accounting controls, and has comm itted to ensuring that these will

3
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continue to be implemented in a manner that satisfies the elements set forth in

Attachment C to this Agreement;

(9 the Company has failed to remediate adequately, including significantly by failing to

discipline in any way the employees responsible for the criminal conduct recounted in

the statement of facts attached hereto as Attchment A, including m isconduct by at

least one high-level Company executive, and thus the ability of the compliance

program to be effective in practice is comprom ised;

(g) the nature and seriousness of the offense-,

(h) the Company's prior history, which includes a guilty plea by its subsidiary LAN

Cargo in 2009 for its involvement from 2003 through 2006 in a criminal conspiracy

to fix prices in the airline cargo industry;

(i) the Company has agreed to continue to cooperate with the Office as set forth in this

Agreement in any investigation of the Company and its officers, directors, employees,

agents, business partners, and consultants retating to violations of the FCPA;

U) accordingly, after considering (a) through (i) above, the Company will enter into a

deferred prosecution agreement, pay a criminal penalty of 25%  above the low end of

United States Sentencing Guidelines range, and an independent compliance monitbr

will be imposed for a term of twentpseven (27) months, as set forth in this

Agreement.

Future Cooperation and Disclosure Requirements

The Company shall cooperate fully with the Office in any and aIl matters relating

to the conduct described in this Agreement and Attachment A and other conduct related to

possible corrupt payments, false books, rçcords, and accounts, or the failure to implem ent

4
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adequate internal accounting controls under investigation by the Office, subject to applicable 1aw

and regulations, until the later of the date upon which all investigations and prosecutions arising

out of such conduct are concluded, or the end of the tenm specified in paragraph 3. At the

request of the Off-ice, the Company shall also cooperate fully with other domestic or foreign 1aw

enforcement and regulatory authorities and agencies, as well as the M ultilateral Development

Banks (tûMDBs''), in any investigation of the Company, its affiliates or related entities, or any of

its present or former officers, directors, employees, agents, and consultants, or any other party, in

any and all matters relating to the conduct described in this Agreement and Attachment A and

other conduct related to possible corrupt payments, false books, records, and accounts, or the

failure to implement adequate internal accounting controls under investigation by the Oftsce.

The Company agrees that its cooperation pursuant to this paragraph shall include, but not be

limited to, the following:

The Company shall truthfully disclose alI factual inform ation not

protected by a valid claim of attorney-client privilege or work product doctrine with respect to its

activities, those of its aftsliates and related entities, and those of its present and former directors,

officers, employees, agents, and consultants, including any evidence or allegations and internal

or external investigations, about which the Company has any knowledge or about which the

Office may inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure includes, but is not limited to, the

obligation of the Company to provide to the Office, upon request any document, record or other

tangible evidence about which the Office may inquire of the Company.

b. Upon request of the Office, the Company shall designate knowledgeable

employees, agents or attorneys to provide to the Office the information and materials described
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in Paragraph 5(a) above on behalf of the Company. lt is further understood that the Company

must at all times provide complete, trtlthful, and accurate information.

The Company shall use its best efforts to make available for interviews or

testimony, as requested by the Office, present or former officers, directors, employees, agents

and consultants of the Company. This obligation includes, but is not lim ited to, sworn testimony

before a federal grand jury or in federal trials, as well as interviews with domestic or foreign 1aw

enforcement and regulatory authorities. Cooperation under this Paragraph shall include

identification of witnesses who, to the knowledge of the Company, may have material

information regarding the matters under investigation.

d. W ith respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or other

tangible evidence provided to the Oftsce pursuant to this Agreement, the Company consents to

any and aIl disclosures, subject to applicable law and regulations, to other governmental

authorities, including United States authorities and those of a foreign government, as well as the

M DBS, of such materials as the Office, in its sole discretion, shall deem appropriate.

6. ln addition to the obligations in Paragraph 5, during the Term of the Agreement,

should the Company learn of credible evidence or allegations of a violation of U.S. federal law,

the Company shall promptly report such evidence or allegations to the Office.

Pavment of M onetaa  Penaltv

The Office and the Company agree that application of the United States

Sentencing Guidelines (iûUSSG'' or tEsentencing Guidelines'') to determine the applicable fine

range yields the following analysis:
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a.

b.

The 2015 USSG are applicable to this matter.

Offense Level. Based upon USSG j 2B1.1 , the toul offense level is 27,
calculated as follows:

(a)(1) Base Offense Level

(b)(l)(J) Value of benefit received more than $3,500,000 +18

(b)(10)(B) Conduct outside the United States

TOTAL

Base Fine. Based upon USSG j 8C2.4(a)(l), the base fine is $8,500,000
(the tine indicated in the Offense Level Fine Table)

27

d. Culpability Score. Based upon USSG j 8C2.5, the culpability score is 6,
calculated as follows:

(a) Base Culpability Score

(b)(3) the unit of the organization within which
the offense was committed had 200 or more
employees and an individual within high-level

personnel of the organization participated in,
condoned, or was willfully ignorant ef the offense

(g)(2) The organization fully cooperated in the
investigation, and clearly demonstrated recognition

and affirmative acceptance of responsibility for its

crim inal conduct

TOTAL
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Calculation of Fine Rance:

Base Fine

M ultipliers

Fine Range

$8,500,000

l .20 (min)/ 2.40 (max)

$10,200,000 - $20,400,000

The Company agrees to pay a monetary penalty in the amount of $ 12,750,000 to the United

States Treasury within ten (10) days of the filing of the Information. 'rhe Company and the

Offsce agree that this penalty is appropriate given the facts and circumstances of this case, as set

forth above. The $12,750,000 penalty is final and shall not be refunded. Furthermores nothing

in this Agreement shall be deemed an agreement by the Oftke that $12,750,000 is the maximum

penalty that may be imposed in any future prosecution, and the Office is not precluded from

arguing in any future prosecution that the Court should impose a higher f'ine, although the Office

agrees that under those circumstances, it will recommend to the Court that any amount paid

under this Agreement should be offset against any fine the Court imposes as part of a future

judgment. The Company acknowlddges that no tax deduction may be sought in connection with

the payment of any part of this $1 2,750,000 penalty.

Conditional Release from Liabilitx

8. Subject to Paragraph l 7-19, the Office agrees, except as provided in this

Agreement, that it will not bring any crim inal or civil case against the Company relating to any

of the conduct described in the attached Statem ent of Facts or the criminal lnformation filed

pursuant to this Agreement or for any other conduct between 2005 and 201 l relating to

furnishing or offering gifts, travel, and entertainment to government officials in Argentina that

the Company disclosed to the Office prior to the signing of this Agreem ent. The Office,

8
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however, may use any information related to the conduct described in the attached Statement of

Facts against the Company: (a) in a prosecution for perjury or obstruction of justice; (b) in a

prosecution for making a false statement; (c) in a prosecution or other proceeding relating to any

crime of violence; or (d) in a prosecution or other proceeding relating to a violation of any

provision of Title 26 of the United States Code.

This Agreement does not provide any protection against prosecution for

any future conduct by the Company.

ln addition, this Agreement does not provide any protection against

prosecution of any individuals, regardless of their affiliation with the Company.

Corporate Com pliance Proeram

The Company represents that it has implemented and will continue to implement

a compliance and ethics program throughout its operations, including those of its affiliates,

agents, andjoint ventures, and those of its contractors and subcontractors whose responsibilities

include interacting with foreign officials or other activities carrying a high risk of corruption,

designed to prevent and detect violations of the FCPA and other applicable anti-conuption Iaws.

10. ln order to address any defkiencies in its internal accounting controls, policies,

and procedures, the Company represents that it has undertaken, and will continue to undertake in

the future, in a manner consistent with al1 of its obligations under this Agreement, a review of its

existing internal accounting controls, policies, and procedures regarding compliance with the

FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. lf necessary and appropriate, the Company will

adopt new or modify existing internal controls, policies, and procedures in order to ensure that

the Company maintains: (a) a system of internal accounting controls designed to ensure the

making and keeping of fair and accurate books, records, and accounts; and (b) rigorous anti-
9
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corruption compliance code, standards, and procedures designed to detect and deter violations of

PA d other applicable anti-corruption laws. The internal accounting controls systemthe FC an

and compliance code, standards, and procedures will include, but not be limited to, the minimum

elements set forth in Atuchment C.

Indenendent Compliance M onitor

Promptly after the Office's selection pursuant to Paragraph 12 below, the

Company agrees to retain a M onitor for the term specified in Paragraph l3. The M onitor's

duties and authority, and the obligations of the Company with respect to the M onitor and the

Office, are set forth in Attachment D, which is incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

Within thirty (30) calendar days after the execution of this Agreement, and after consultation

with the Office, the Company will propose to the Office a pool of three (3) qualified candidates

to serve as the M onitor.' If the Office deterlnines, in its sole discretion, that any of the candidates

are not, in fact, qualified to serve as the M onitor, or if the Office, in its sole discretion, is not

satisfied with the candidates proposed, the Office reserves the right to seek additional

nominatipns from the Company. The M onitor candidates or their team members shall have, at a

minimum , the follow ing qualifications:

a. demonstrated expertise with respect to the FCPA and other applicable

anti-corruption laws, including experience counseling on FCPA issues',

b. experience designing and/or reviewing comorate compliance policies,

procedures and internal controls, including FCPA and anti-corruption policies, procedures and

internal controls;

the ability to access and deploy resources as necessary to discharge the

M onitor's duties as described in the Agreement; and

10
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d. sufficient independence from the Company to ensure effective and

impartial performance of the Monitor's duties as described in the Agreement.

l2. The Offke retains the right, in its sole discretion, to choose the M onitor from

among the candidates proposed by the Company, though the Company may express its

preferencets) among the candidates. ln the event thc Office rejects a1l proposed Monitors, the

Company shall propose an additional three candidates within thirty (30) calendar days after

receiving notice of the rejection. This process shall continue until a Monitor acceptable to both

parties is chosen. The Office and the Company will use their best efforts to complete the

selection process within sixty (60) calendar days of the tiling of the Agreement and the

accompanying Information.

obligations as set out herein and in Attachment D, the Company shall within thirty (30) calendar

lf the M onitor resigns or is othenvise unable to fulfill his or her

days recommend a pool of three qualified M onitor candidates from which the Office will choose

a replacement.

13. The Monitor's term shall be twenty-seven (27) months from the date on which the

Monitor is relined by the Company, subject to extension as described in Paragraph 3. The

M onitor's powers, duties, and responsibilities, as well as additional circumstances that may

support an extension of the M onitor's term, are set forth in Attachment D. The Company agrees

that it will not employ or be affiliated with the M onitor or the M onitor's flrm for a period of not

less than two (2) years from the date on which the Monitor's term expires. Nor will the

Company discuss with the M onitor or the M onitor's ûrm the possibility of further employment

or affiliation during the M onitor's term .

14. After the conclusion of the monitorship, provided all requirements set forth in

Paragraph 8 of Attachment D are met, the Company will report on its compliance to the Office

11
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once, with such report being due two months prior to the completion of the Term . of this

Agreement, regarding remediation and implemenltion of the enhanced compliance measures set

forth by the Monitor as (iescribed in Paragraph # of Attachment D. The Company shall

designate a senior company officer as the person responsible for overseeing the Company's

corporate compliance reporting obligations. During this period, the Company shall conduct and

prepare the review and reporq as described below:

a. The Company shall undertake the review imlnediately at the end of the

monitorship, and shall incom orate the Office's views and comments on the monitor's prior

reviews and reports, to detennine whether thespolicies and procedures of the Company are

reasonably designed to detect and prevent violations of the FCPA and other applicable

anticorruption laws. The report shall be transm itted to the FCPA Chief, Fraud Section, Criminal

Division, U .S. Department of Justice, 1400 New York Avenue, W ashington, D.C. 20005.

b.

ten (2 10) calendar days after the approval by the Office of the enhanced compliance measures

described in Paragraph 8 of Attachment D. That report shall be completed and delivered to the

Office no later than sixty (60) days before the end of the Term.

The review and report shall be completed by no later than two-hundred-

The Company may extend the time period for subm ission of the report

with prior written approval of the Office.

Deferred Prosecution

15. In consideration of: (a) the past and future cooperation of the Company

described in Paragraphs 4 and 5 above; (b) the Company's payment of a criminal penalty of

$12,750,000; and (c) the Company's implementation and maintenance of remedial measures as

described in Paragraphs 9 and 10 above, the Office agrees that any prosecution of the Company

1 2
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for the conduct set forth in the attached Statement of Facts and lnfonnation be and llereby is

deferred for the Term of this Agreement.

16. The Oftsce further agrees that if the Company fully complies with aIl of its

obligations under this Agreement, the Office will not continue the criminal prosecution against

the Company described in Paragraph 1 and, at the conclusion of the Term , this Agreem ent shall

expire. Within six (6) months of the Agreement's expiration, the Office shall seek dismissal

with prejudice of the criminal lnformation filed against the Company described in Paragraph 1,

and agrees not to file charges in the future against the Company based on the conduct described

in this Agreement and Attachment A or the lnformation or for other conduct betwecn 2005 and

201 l relating to funzishing or offering gifts, travel, and entertainment to government oftscials in

Argentina that the Company disclosed to the Office prior to the signing of this Agreement.

Breach of the Aereement

If, during the Term of this Agreement, the Company (a) commits any felony

under U.S. federal law; (b) provides in connection with this Agreement deliberately false,

incomplete, or misleading information, including in connection with its disclosure of information

about individual culpability; (c) fails to cooperate as set forth in Paragraphs 5 and 6 of this

Agreement; (d) fails to implement a compliance program as set forth in Paragraphs 9 and l 0 of

this Agreement and Attachment C; (e) commits any acts thats had they occurred within the

jurisdictional reach of the FCPA, would be a violation of the FCPA; or (8 othenvise fails

specifically to perform or to fulfsll completely each of the Company's obligations under the

Agreements regardless of whether the Office becomes aware of such a breach after the Term of

the Agreement is complete, the Company shall thereafter be subject to prosecution for any

federal criminal violation of which the Office has knowledge, in'cluding, but not limited to, the

1 3
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charges in the lnformation described in Paragraph 1, which may be pursued by the Office in the

U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida or any other appropriate venue.

Determination of whether the Company has breached the Agreement and whether to pursue

prosecution of the Company shall be in the Office's sole discretion. Any such prosecution may

be premised on infonnation provided by the Company or its personnel. Any such prosecution

relating to the conduct described in the attached Statement of Facts or relating to conduct known

*to the Office prior to the date on which this Agreement was signed that is not time-barred by the

applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this Agreement may be commenced

against the Company, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of Iilnitations, between the

signing of this Agreement and the expiration of the Term plus one year. Thus, by signing this

Agreement, the Company agrees that the statute of limitations with respect to any such

prosecution that is not time-barred on the date of the signing of this Agreement shall be tolled for

the Ten'n plus one year. ln addition, the Company agrees that the statute of limitations as to any

violation of federal law that occurs during the Term will be tolled ffom the date upon which the

violation occurs until the earlier of the date upon which the Office is made aware of the violation

or the duration of the Term plus five years, and that this period shall be excluded from any

calculation of time for purposes of the application of the statute of limitations.

ln the event the Office determines that the Company has breached this

Agreement, the Office agrees to provide the Company with written notice prior to instituting any

prosecution resulting from such breach. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice, the

Company shall have the opportunity to respond to the Office in writing to explain the nature and

circumstancej of the breach, as well as the actions the Company has taken to address and

14
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remediate the sisuation, which the Oftice shall colzsider in determining whether to pufùue

prosecution of the Company.

19. In the event that the Office determ ines that the Company has breached this

Agreement: (a) alI ktatements made by or on behalf of the Company to the Office or to the

Courq including the attached Statement of Facts, and any testimony given by the Company

before a grand jury, a court, or any tribunal, or at any legislative hearings, whether prior or

subsequent to this Agreement, and any leads derived from such statements or testimony, shall be

admissible in evidence in any and alI criminal proceedings brought by the Office against the

Company; and (b) the Company shall not aqsert any claim under the United States Constitution,

Rule 1 l(9 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of

Evidence, or any other federal rule that any such statements or testimony made by or on behalf of

the Company prior or subsequent to this Agreement, or any leads derived therefrom, should be

suppressed or are othenvise inadmissible. The decision whether conduct or statements of any

current director, officer or employee, or any person acting on behalf of, or at the direction of, the

Company, will be imputed to the Company for the purpose of determining whether the Company

has violated any provision of this Agreement shall be in the sole discretion of the Office.

The Company acknowledges that the Office has made no representations,

assurances, or promises concerning what sentence may be imposed by the Court if the Company

breaches this Agreement and this matter proceeds to judgment. The Company further

acknowledges that any such sentence is solely within the discretion of the Court and that nothing

in this Agreement binds or restricts the Court in the exercise of such discretion.

Thirty (30) days after the expiration of the period of deferred prosecution

specified in this Agreement, the Company, by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and

1 5
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the Chief Financial Ofticer of the Company, will certify to the Department that the Company has

met its disclosure obligations pursuant to Paragraph 6 of this Agreement. Each certification will

be deemed a material sutement and representation by the Company to the executive branch of

the United States for purposes of 18 U.S.C. j 1001, and it will be deemed to have been made in

the judicial district in which this Agreement is filed.

Sale. M eraer. or Other Chanee in Corporate Form of Com panv

22. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the Company and the Office in connection

with a particular transaction, the Company ajrees that, in the event that, during the Term of the

Agreement, it undertakes any change in corporate form, including if it sells, merges, or transfers

a substantial portion of its business operations as they exist as of the date of this Agreements

whether such sale is structured as a sale, asset sale, merger, transfer, or other change in com orate

form, it shall include in any contract for sale, merger, transfer, or other change in com orate form

a provision binding the purchaser, or any successor in interest, to the obligations described in this

Agreement. The Company shall obtain approval from the Office at least thirty (30) days prior to

it or its Board of Directors proposing to its shareholders the undertaking of any such sale,

merger, transfer, or other change in corporate form , including dissolution, in order to give the

Office an opportunity to determ ine if such change in cprporate form would affect the terms or

obligations of the Agreement. If the Company concludes that in particular circumstances

complying with the previous sentence would place it in violation of Chilean Iaw, the Company

shall promptly notify the Office of such conclusion, and the Company and the Office will seek to

reach agreement on how to proceed; in no event, however, will the Company proceed to close

16
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any transaction that results in a change in com orate form prior to reaching an agreement with the

Office.

Public Statements bv Companv

The Company expressly agrees that it shall not, through present or future

attorneys, officers, directors, employees, agents or any other person authorized to speak for the

Company make any public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the acceptance of

responsibility by the Company set forth above or the facts described in the atlched Statement of

Facts. Any such contradictory statement shall, subject to cure rights of the Company described

below, constitute a breach of this Agreement, and the Comhpany thereafter shall be subject to

prosecution as set forth in Paragraphs l 7-1 9 of this Agreement. The decision whether any

public statement by any such person contradicting a fact contained in the Statement of Facts will

be imputed to the Company for the purpose of determining whether it has breached this

Agreement shall be at the sole discretion of the Office. lf the Office determines that a public

statement by any such person contradicts in whole or in part a statement contained in the

Statement of Facts, the Office shall go notify the Company, and the Company may avoid a

breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statementts) within five (5) business days

after notification. The Company shall be permitted to raise defenses and to assert aftirmative

claims in other proceedings relating to the matters set forth in the Statement of Facts provided

that such defenses and claim s do not contradict, in whole or in part, a statement contained in the

Statement of Facts. This Paragraph does not apply to any statement made by any present or

former officer, director, employee, or agent of the Company in the course of any crim inal,

regulatory, or civil case initiated against such individuals unless such individual is speaking on

behalf of the Company.
l 7
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24. The Compally agrees that if it or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries or

affiliates issues a press release or holds any press conference in connection with this Agreement,

the Company shall first consult with the Office to determine (a) whether the text of the release or

proposed statements at the press cénference are true and accurate with respect to matters between

the Office and the Company; and (b) whether the Office has any objection to the release.

The Office agrees, if requested to do so, to bring to the attention of law

enforcement and regulatory authorities the facts and circum stances relating to the nature of the

conduct underlying this Agreement, including the nature and quality of the Company's

cooperation and remediation.

Office is not agreeing to advocate on behalf of the Company, but rather is agreeing to provide

facts to be evaluated independently by such authorities.

By agreeing to provide this information to such authorities, the

Limitations on Bindine Fcffect of Aereement

26. This Agreement is binding on the Company and the Office but specifically does

not bind any other component of the Department of Justice, other federal agencies, or any state,

local or foreign law enforcement or regulatory agencies, or any other authorities, although the

Office will bring the cooperation of the Company and its compliance with its other obligations

under this Agreement to the attention of such agencies and authorities if requested to do so by

the Company.

Notice

27. Any notice to the Office under this Agreement shall be given by personal

delivery, overnight delivery by a recognized delivery service, or registered or certified mail,

addressed to FCPA Chief, Fraud Section, Crim inal Division, U.S. Department of Justice, 1400

New York Avenue, W aslzington, D.C. 20005.Any notice to the Company under this Agreement

1 8
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shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivèry by a recognized delivery service, or

registered or certified mail, addressed to Claudio Salas, 7 W orld Trade Centers 250 Greenwich

Street, New York, New York 10007. Notice shall be effective upon actual receipt by the Office

or the Company.

Com plete Aereement

This Agreement, including its attachments, sets fol'th all the terms of the28 
.

agreement between the Company and the Oftice. No amendments, modiGcations or additions to

19
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this AgTetment slmll be valid unless tlwy are in writing and siganed by the Oftke, the attomeys

for the Company and a duly authorized representative of the Company.

AGREED:

FOR IA TAM  AIRLINES GROUP S.A.:

o-te, 7
.
126-,13* By: -Md

res Osorio Hermansen
LATAM  AIRLINES GROUP S.A.

'alzs-lllo
Date:

* j

# . 1. trxS
X: -

Roger M . W itten
W ilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and DolT
LLP

FOR THE DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE:

-/l-s.se/tkeDate;

Andrew W eissmamt
Cbief, Fraud Section
Criminal Division
United States Depnrtment of Justice

i'
BY: lw

Jason inder
Sczti r THal Attom ey

20

Case 0:16-cr-60195-DTKH   Document 2   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/25/2016   Page 20 of 55



COM PANY OITICER'S CAIRVI'I>ICA'FE

1 have read this Aveement and carefully reviewed every part of it with outside counsel

for Latam Airlines Group S.A. (the X ompany''l. 1 understand the terms of this Agreement and

voluntarily agree, on behalf of the Company, to each of its terms. Before signing tbis

Agreement, I consulted outide counsel for the Company. Cotmsel fully advised me of the rights

of the Com pany, of possible defenses, of the Sentencing Guidelines' provisions, and of the

consequences of entering into this Ap eement.

1 have catefully reviewed thc tcrm s of this Agreem ent with the Board of Directors of the

Company. lhave advised and camed outside counsel for the Company to adviso the Board of

Directors fully of the rights of the Company, of possible defenses, of the Sentencing Cyuidelines'

provisions, and of the consequences of entering into the Agreement.

No promises or inducements have been made other than those contained in this

Agreement. Furtherm ore, no one hmq tbreatened or foroed me, or to my knowledge any person

authorizing this Agreement on behalf of the Compmm  in any way to enter into this Apeement.

I am also satissed with outside counsel's representation in this matter. I certtfy' that I am the

CFO for the Company and iat I have been duly autborized by the Company to execute this

Agv m ent on behalf of the Company.

7 zf ) l $Date:
LATAM (A O .A.

By:
An- dres Osono Hermansen

cFO
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' CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

I am counsel for Latam Airlines Group S.A. (the itcompany'') in the matter covered by

this Agreement. ln connection with such representation, I have examined relevant Com pany

documents and havè'disiussed the terms of this Agreembnfkith the Company Board of

Directors. Based on our review of the foregoing materials and discussions, 1 am of the opinion

that the representative of the Company has been duly authorized to enter into this Agreement on

behalf of the Company and that this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executcd,

and delivered on behalf of the Company and is a valid and binding obligation of the Company.

Further, l have carefully reviewed the terms of this Agreement with the Board of Directors and

the CFO of the Company. l have fully advised them of the rights of the Company, of possible

defenses, of the Sentencing Guidelines' provisions and of the consequences of entering into this
w 

#

Agreement. To m y knowledge, the decision of the Company to enter into this Agreement, bascd

on the authorization of the Board of Directors, is an informed and voluntary one.

, 
-  

jytvoate: 7 / 2 L

fo -zrm zpp . p;' . zyBy:
Roger M . W itten
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
Counsel for Latam Airllnes Group S.A.

Case 0:16-cr-60195-DTKH   Document 2   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/25/2016   Page 22 of 55



ATTACHM ENT A

STATEM ENT OF FACTS

The following Statement of Facts is incom orated by reference as pal4 of the Deferred

yu. jj . y yProsecution Agreement (ihe t Agreement ) between the United States Department of Justice,

Criminal Division, Fraud Section (the tioffice'') and Latam Airlines Group S.A. CtLATAM'') as

successor-in-interest to LAN Airlines S.A. (t1LAN''). LATAM hereby agrees and stipulates that

the following information is true and accurate. LATAM  adm its, accepts, and acknowledges that

it is responsible for the acts of its offscers, directors, employees, and agents, as well as for the

acts of the officers, directors, employees, and agents of LAN as its predecessor-in-interest, as set
4

forth below. Should the Oftk e pursue the prosecution that is deferred by this Agreement,

LATAM  agrees that it will neither contest the adm issibility of, nor contradict, this Statement of

Facts in any such proceeding. The following facts establish beyond a reasonable doubt the

charges set fbrth in the criminal lnformation attached to this Agreement:

LAN  and Other Relevant Entitics and Individuals

LAN was, until 2012, an airline company incorporated and headquartered in Chile

that provided passenger and cargo transportation throughout South and Central America, as well

as to the United States, Europes and Australia. During the relevant period, LAN had annual

revenues of approximately $3.5 billion. Until 2012, shares of LAN'S stock traded on the New

York Stock Exchange C4NYSE'') as American depository receipts (&éADRs'') and LAN was5

required to file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Comm ission under Section

l 5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. j 78o(d). Accordingly, LAN was an ktissuer'' as

that term is used in the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (tTCPA''), Title l 5, United States Code,

Section 78m . ln June 2012, LAN became LATAM  after merging with TAM  S.A. After the
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merger, LATAM 'S shares traded on the NYSE as ADRS, and LATAM  was required to file

periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section l5(d) of the

Securities Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. j 78o(d). Accordingly, LATAM was an issuer within the

meaning of the FCPA, Title l5, United States Code, Section 78m . LATAM  was incorporated

and headquartered in Chile.

Until the 201 2 merger, LAN Cargo was a subsidiary of LAN ; thereafter, it was a

subsidiary of LATAM . LAN Cargo was incorporated in Chile, headquartered in M iami, Florida,

and had several other offices in the United States. It provided cargo transportation within South

and Central America, and between South and Central America and the rest of the world.

Until the 20l 2 merger, Atlantic Aviation Investments LLC (téAAl'') was a

subsidiary of LAN; thereafter it was a subsidiary of LATAM . AA1 was incorporated in

Delaware and headquartered in Chile. AAl's financial statements were consolidated into the

financial statements of LAN and later LATAM .

StLAN Executive,'' an individual whose identity is known to the United States,

was a high-level executive at LAN.

tûLAN Cargo Executive,'' an individual whose identity is known to the United

States, was a high-level Executive at LAN Cargo during the relevant period. LAN Cargo

Executive was responsible, along with LAN Executive and other LAN executives, for leading

LAN'S entry into the Argentine airline market during the relevant period. LAN Cargo Executive

was based in M iami, Florida, and was a United Sutes citizen.

6. ttconsulunt,'''' an individual whose identify is known to the United States, was an

advisor to the Secretary of Argentina's M inistry of Transportation during the relevant period. He

was appointed to that position pursuant to an unpublished resolution.

A-2
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ILAN 'S Fa/ry into the Argentlne M arket

LAN sought entry into the Argentine commercial airline market in the early

2000s. At the time, Argentina prohibited foreign-owned airlines from operating in the country
,

so LAN looked for a local Argentine corfipany in which it could acquire a minority interest.

ln 2004 and 2005, LAN engaged in discussions with government officials from

Argentina's M inistry of Transportation about a variety of issues surrounding its entry into the

market, including: (a) which local airline it could acquire (the govemment had to approve its

acquisition); (b) revising the law to pennit LAN to own a majority of that company; (c) granting

LAN additional routes within Argentina it could operate once it had established operations in the

country; (d) raising the maximum allowable ticket prices, which were set by the government', and

(e) labor issues that arose after it entered the market.

9. By early 2005, LAN had agreed with offlcials from the Argentine M inistry of

Transportation that it would acquire the defunct Argentine airline, Aero 2000, which had no

active operations. As part of that agreement, LAN also agreed to employ the labor forces from

two other defunct airlines, LAFSA and Southern W inds. ln return for that comm itment,

Argentine government officials agreed that the officials would revise the law so that LAN could

own a majority of the airline it had acquired, would raise the cap on maximum airfares, and

would grant LAN additional domestic routes.

However, LAN 'S relationship with the labor unions representing its inherited

workforce began deteriorating during this time frame. The tension focused on the so-called ttone

function rule,'' which mandated that each employee could engage in only one, narrowly-defined

type of work. Although LAN'S Iabor unions did not strictly enforce the rule in practice, the
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unions threatened to do so, which would have had the effect of significantly increasing LAN'S

Iabor expenses.

The Ffc/ftfolu Consulting Agreem ent

14. ln Septeihber and October 2006, LAN negotiated and executed a fictitious $1 .15

million consulting agreement with Consultant, through a company he owned and operated, in

order to funnel bribes to labor union officials. As a result of these corrupt payments, LAN 'S

unions had agreed not to enforce the one function rule for a period of years and had accepted

substantially lower wage increases than they had been demanding.

1 5. LAN Cargo Executive negotiated the fktitious agreement with Consultant on

behalf of LAN, while keeping LAN Executive informed of the negotiation's progress. On

September 23, 2006, for example, LAN Cargo Executive sent LAN Executive an email with the

subject line Gs-ropic closed for the moment.'' ln it, LAN Cargo Executive advised LAN

Executive that ttgtlhe cost would be l ,000 plus 15%,55 with t:1/3 to be paid immediately, another

l/3 in 30 and 60 days. l expect Oct l lm ov l l and Dec 1 1 .''

On October 2, 2006, Consultant emailed LAN Cargo Executive a draft of the

agreement, copying a high-level official in the M inistry of Transportation. Among other

responsibilities, the high-level offk ial was involved in LAN'S negotiations with its Iabor unions.

The draft agreement between LAN and Consullnt's company stated that

Consultant's company t:is specialized and has broad experience in providing advisory services on

the subject of transportation in the Argentine Republic and the region . . . .'' Under the terms of

the draft agreement, the consulting company purportedly was to:

undertake a study of existing air routes in the Argentine Republic

and the regional market, including those being serviced by

different airlines, as well as those with no service available at
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present. The study mizkt include, among other data: each of the
points to be connected by each of the routes, possible
combinatlons, eventual connections, estimated passenger volumes
throughout the year, especially differentiating weekdays from

weekends, and particularly those dominated (sicl as long
weekends. This study must include an estimate of the potential air

cargö demands for each of the routes.

18. Further, the draft agreement contemplated that Consultant's company would

perform legal analysis on LAN'S behalf: ktlwlithin the framework of the Iaw governing Public-

Private Partnerships (PPP) in the Argentine Republic, (LANI assigns (Consultant's companyl the

task of studying and analyzing said Iaw and its potential application to the different services

provided by (LAN).'' The draft agreement gave Consultant's company up to ninety days ttto

deliver the study with the requested services.''

l 9. In exchange for these purported services, the draft agreement provided that LAN

would pay Consultant's company $4a fixed sum of US$ l ,150,00095 payable in four installments:

$300,000 on signing; $300,000 at both thirty and sixty days after signing; and the remaining

$250,000 paid ninety days after signing.

LAN Cargo Executive forwarded the draft agreem ent to LAN Executive on

October 3, 2006, the day after LAN Cargo Executive had received it. LAN Cargo Executive

reached agreement with Consulunt and LAN Executive approved it even though they both knew .

that the draft agreement's description of the services that Consultant's company would provide

were false. Rather, both understood that the true pum ose of the draft agreement was to use

Consultant to intercede on LAN'S behalf with the ofûcials of its Argentine labor unions.

Furthers LAN Cargo Executive knew and intended that Consultant would use some of the money

he received under the draft agrqement to bribe union officials to accept terms more favorable to
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LAN. LAN Executive also understood that Consultant m ight pass some of the money he'wôtlld

be paid under the draft agreement to union officials.

2l. LAN and Consultant's company never fully signed and executed the fictitious

consulting agreement, and neither the Consultant nor anyone else affiliated with his company

ever performed any of the services specified in the draft agreement. Despite the absence of a

fully executed agreement and despite the failure of Consultant's company to perform the services

specified in the draft agreement, Consultnt's company invoiced LAN for payment under the

draft agreement and a LAN affiliate paid those invoices.

22. On October 18, 2006, Consultant emailed LAN Cargo Executive an invoice from

his company to LAN for $300,000 tElfjor consulting services provided by and payable to you

under contract signed by both parties.'' lt directed that payment be made to a W achovia account

in Roanoke, Virginia, held in the name of Consultant and his wife, not in the name of his

company. LAN paid this invoice from its Citibank account in New York, on behalf of AAI
, even

though (i) the contract had never been signed, (ii) the first invoice had been directed to LAN (not

AAl), (iii) the unsigned agreement had been between Consultant's company and LAN, not AAI,

and (iv) it was not a company bank account receiving the funds. LAN Cargo Executive directed

Consultant to address remaining invoices to AAl, not LAN.

23. tln November 21, 2006, and January 16, 2007, Consultant emailed two additional

invoices to LAN Cargo Executive, the first for $300,000 and the second for $550,000. 80th

invoices were addressed to AAI, both directed payment be made to the same Virginia W achovia

account held by Consultant and his wife, and both invoices indicated they were ttltlor consulting

services provided by and payable to you under contract signed by both parties.'' As before, LAN

paid both invoices on behalf of AAI from its New York Citibank account.
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24. All of the payments to Consultant's com/an# were intentionally mis-recorded as

Etother debtors'' on the books, recordss and accounts of LAN 'S Delaware subsidiary. LAN

Executive approved the payments to Consultant's company, knowing that the payments were

pursuant to an unsigned fictitious consulting agreement with Consulunt's company.

On November 7, 2007, LAN also paid an additional $58,000 to a New York Bank

of America account in the name of another company, which wasjointly owned by Consultant's

wife and son. The invoice for that payment, like the three from Consultant's company, falsely

indicated that the payment was for tsconsulting services and studies performed on the different

aerial routes in the Argentine Republic and in the regional market.'' LAN did not have an

agreement or arrangem ent of any kind with this second company.

LAN obtained an estimated benefst of $6,743,932 as a result of the improper

payments to Consultant's company to resolve LAN 'S union issues.

LAN 'S InternalAccounting Controls

27. During the relevant period, LAN knowingly and willfully failed to implement a

sufficient system of internal accounting controls. ln particular and as relevant here, LAN had

deficient internal accounting contrqls that did not require, among other things, (a) due diligence

for the retention of third party consultants; (b) a fully executed contract with a third party before

payment could be made to it; (c) invoices issued to the LAN entity that in fact engaged the third

party; (d) documentation or other proof that services had been rendered by a third party before

payment could be made to it; (e) that payment to third parties retained by LAN or LAN entities

be made to bank accounts held in the names of those third parties; or (9 oversight of the payment

process to ensure that payments were made pursuant to appropriate controls, including those

described above.
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28. LAN Executive, LAN Cargo Executive, and one other high-level LAN executive

knew that the services described in the unsigned fictitious agreement w ith Consultant's company

were false, and that the true purpose of the payments made under it were to resolve LAN'S

disputes With its Argentine labor unions. At least LAN Cargo Executive, moreover, knew that

Consultant would pay bribes to officials of the labor unions. LAN Executive and the other high-

Ievel LAN executive who knew about the false nature of the agreement had the authority and

responsibility to ensure that LAN devised and maintained an adequate system of internal

accounting controls, knew that LAN 'S then-existing internal accounting controls failed to prevent

LAN from entering into an unsigned fictitious consulting agreement, and knowingly and

willfully failed to implement internal accounting controls to address the known weaknesses in

part to permit LAN to enter into the contract.
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AW ACHM ENT B

CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE RESO-LUTIONS

Latam Airlines Groups S.A. (the ûçcompany'') hms been engaged inW HEREAS,

discussions wit.h the United States Dcpartment of Justice, Criminal Divisiona Fraud Section (the

ROf15ce'') regarding issucs arising in relation to certain false booked payments and an intentional

failure to implement intenlal accotmting conkols; atld

W HEREAS, in order to resolve such discussions, it is prtlposed that the Company enter

into a certain agreement w1111 the Office; and

W HEREAS, the Company's SR. Vice President Legal Affairs, Juan Carlos M encio,

together with outside counsel for the Compalm  have advised the Board of Directors of the

Company of its rights, possible defenses, the Sentencing Guidelines' provisiom , and the

consequences of entering into such agreement with the Oftice;

Therefore, the Board of Dizectors has RESOLVED that:

The Company (a) acknowledgcs the fililzg of the two-count Information charging

the Company w11 (i) violating the hztemal controls provisions of the Fozeign Corlxpt Practices

Act of 1977 C$FCPA''), as amended, 15 U.S.C. 9j 7#m(b)(2)(B), 78m(b)(5), and 78ff(a); and (ii)

violating the FCPA'S books and records pzovisionss 15 U.S.C. 9j 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(5), and

78ff(a); (b) waives indictment on such charges and cnters into a deferred prosecution agreement

with the Offlce; and (c) agrees to accept a monetary penalty against Company totaling

$12,750,000, ahd to pay such penalty to tlle United States Treasury with respect to tlle conduct

described in the Infbrmation;

The Company accepts tlle terms alld conditions of tllis Agreement, including, but

not limited to, (a) a krmwing waiver of its rights to a speedy trlal pursnant to the Sixth
B-1
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Amendment to the United States Constimtion, Title 1% United States Code, Section 3161, and

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 4809; and (b) a knowing waiver for ptuposes of tMs

Agreement and any charges by the United States arising out of the conduct described in the

attached Statement of Facts of any objection with respect to venue and consents to the ûling of

the Informationa as prtw ided under the terms of tltis Agreement, in the United States Distzict

Court for the Southem District of Flozida; and (c) a knowing waiver of any defenscs based on the

staGte of limitations for any prosecution relating to tlte conduct described in the attached

Statement of Facts or relating to conduct known to the Oftlce prior to the date on which this

Agreement was signed that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date

of the signïng of this Agreemcnt;

The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Company, Andres Osorio Hennansen, is

hereby authorized, empowered and directed, on behalf of the Company, .to execute the Defen'ed

Prosecution Agreement substr tially in such form as reviewed by tllis Board of Directors at this

meeting with such changes as the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Company, Andres Osorio

Hermansen, may approve;

4. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Company, Andres Osorio Hermansen is

hereby authorized, empowered and directed to take any and al1 actions as may be necessary or

appropriate and to approve the fonns, terms or provisions of any agreement or other documents

ms may be necessary or appropriate, to carry out and effectuate the pupose and intent of the

foregoing resolutions; arld

5. A11 of the actions of the Chief Fjnancial Omcer (CFO) of Company, Andres

Osorio Hermansen, which actions would have been authorized by the foregoing
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f

resolutions except that such actions were taken prior to the adoption of such resolutions, are

bercby severdly ratified, conth-med, approved, and adopted as actions on behalf of thc

Company.

-z. /z z 1 'rDate:
z .

B y : 'z
Corp te Secretary
Lat Aidints Group .A.
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ATTACHM ENT C

CORPORATE COM PLIANCE PROGM M

ln order to address any deficiencies in its internal controls, compliance code, policies,

and procedures regarding compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (4:FCPA''), l 5

U.S.C. jj 7#dd-l, et seq., and other applicable anti-corruption laws, LATAM Airlines Group

S.A. (the ttcompany'') agrees to continue to conduct, in a manner consistent with all of its

obligations under this Agreement, appropriate reviews of its existing internal controls, policies,

and procedures.

W here necessary and appropriates the Company agrees to adopt new or to modify

existing internal controls, compliance code, policies, and procedures in order to ensure that it

maintains: (a) a system of internal accounting controls designed to ensure that the Company

makes and keeps fair and accurate books, records, and accounts; and (b) a rigorous anti-

corruption compliance program that includes policies and procedures designed to detect and

deter violations of the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. At a minimum, this

should include, but not be limited to, the following elements to the extent they are not already

part of the Company's existing internal controls, compliance code, policies, and procedures:

High-L evel Commitment

1. The Company will ensure that its directors and senior managem ent provide

strong, explicit, and visible support and commitment to its corporate policy against violations of

the anti-corruption laws and its compliance code.
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Policies and Procedures

The Company will develop and promulgate a clearly articulated and visible2
.

corporate policy against violations of the FCPA and other applicable foreign law counterparts

(collectively, the t&anti-corruption laws,''), which policy shall be memorialized in a written

compliance code.

The Company will develop and promulgate compliance policies and procedures

designed to reduce the prospect of violations of the anti-corruption laws and the Company's

compliance code, and the Company will take appropriate measures to encourage and support the

observance of ethics and compliance policies and procedures against violation of the anti-

corruption laws by personnel at al1 levels of the Company. These anti-corruption policies and

procedures shall apply to a1l directors, officers, and employees and, where necessary and

appropriate, outside parties acting on behalf of the Company in a foreign jurisdiction, including

but not limited to, agents and interlnediaries, consultants, representatives, distributors, team ing

partners, contractors and suppliers, consortia, and joint venture partners (collectively, ttagents

and business partners''). The Company shall notify aIl employees that compliance with the

policies and procedures is the duty of individuals at all levels of the company. Such policies and

procedures shall address'.

a. gifts;

b. hospitality, entertainment, and expenses',

customer travel;

political contributions;

charitable donations and sponsorships',

d.
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facilitation payments', and

solicitation and extortion.

4. The Company will ensure that it has a system of Gnancial and accounting

procedures, including a system of internal controls, reasonably designed to ensure the

maintenance of fair and accurate bookss records, and accounts. This system should be designed

to provide reasonable assurances that:

transactions are executed in accordance with management's general or

specific authorization',

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in conform ity with generally accepted accounting principles or any other criteria

applicable to such statements, and to maintain accountability for assets;

c. access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management's

general or specific authorization; and

d. the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets

at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.

Periodic Risk-Based Review

The Company will develop these compliance policies and procedures on the

basis of a periodic risk assessment addressing the individual circumstances of the Company, in

particular the foreign bribery risks facing the Company, includings but not limited tos its

geographical organization, interactions with various types and levels of government officials,

industrial sectors of operation, involvement in joint venture arrangements, importance of licenses
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and permits in the Company's operations, degree of governmenll oversight and inspection, and

volume and importance of goods and personnel clearing through customs and immigration.

6. The Company shall review its anti-corruption compliance policies and

procedures no less than annually and update them as appropriate to ensure their continued

effectiveness, taking into account relevant developments in the field and evolving international

and industry standards.

Proper Oversight and lndependence

The Company will assign responsibility to one or more senior corporate

executives of the Company for the implementation and oversight of the Company's anti-

corruption compliance code, policies, and procedures. Such corporate officialts) shall have the

authority to report directly to independent monitoring bodies, including internal audit the

Company's Board of Directors, or any appropriate com mittee of the Board of Directors, and

shall have an adequate level of autonomy from management as well as sufficient resources and

authority to maintain such autonomy.

Training and Guidance

8. The Company will implement mechanisms designed to ensure that its anti-

corruption compliance code, policies, and procedures are effectively communicated to all

directors, oficers, employees, and, where necessary and appropriate, agents and business

partners. These mechanisms shall include: (a) periodic training for all directors and officers, all

employees in positions of leadership or trust, positions that require such training (e.g., internal

audit, sales, Iegal, compliance, finance), or positions that otherwise pose a comzption risk to the

Company, and, where necessary and appropriate, agents and business partners; and (b)
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corresponding certifications by all such directors, officers, employees, agents, and business

partners, certifying compliance with the training requirements.

9. The Company will mainlin, or where necessary establish, an effective system

for providing guidance and advice to directors, officers, employees, and, where necessary and

appropriate, agents and business partners, on complying with the Company's anti-corruption

compliance code, policies, and procedures, including when they need advice on an urgent basis

or in any foreign jurisdiction in which the Company operates.

Internal Reporting and lnvestigation

l0. The Company will maintain, or where necessary establish, an effective system

for intelmal and, where possibles confidential reporting by, and protection of, directors, officers,

employees, and, where appropriate, agents and business partners concerning violations of the

anti-corruption laws or the Company's anti-corruption compliance code, policies, and

procedures.

1 l . The Company will maintain, or where necessary establish, an effective and

reliable process with sufficient resources for responding to, investigating. and documenting

allegations of violations of the anti-corruption laws or the Company's anti-çorruption

compliance code, policies, and procedures.

Enforcement and Disclpline

12. The Company will implement mechanisms designed to effectively enforce its

compliance code, policies, and procedures, including appropriately incentivizing compliance and

disciplining violations.
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1 3. The Company will institute appropriate disciplinary procedures to address
,

among other things, violations of the anti-conuption laws and the Company's anti-corruption

compliance code, policies, and procedures by the Company's directors, officers, and employees.

Such procedures should be applied consistently and fairly, regardless of the position held by
, or

perceived importance of, the director, officer, or employee. The Company shall implement

procedures to ensure that where misconduct is discovered, reasonable steps are taken to remedy

the harm resulting from such m isconduct, and to ensure that appropriate stcps are taken to

prevent further similar miscènduct, including assessing the internal controls, compliance code
,

policies, and procedures and making modifications necessary to ensure the overall anti-

corruption compliance program is effective.

Third-party Relationships

l4. The Company will institute appropriate risk-based due diligencç and compliance

requirements pertaining to the retention and oversight of a1l agents and business partners,

including'.

a. properly documented due diligence pertaining to the hiring and

appropriate and regular oversight of agents and business partners;

b. informing agents and business partners of the Company's comm itment to

abiding by anti-corruption laws, and of the Company's anti-corruption compliance code,

policies, and procedures; and

seeking a reciprocal commitment from agents and business partners.

W here necessary and appropriate, the Company will include sundard provisions

in agreements, contracts, and renewals thereof with all agents and business partners that are

C-6

Case 0:16-cr-60195-DTKH   Document 2   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/25/2016   Page 39 of 55



reasonably calculated to prevent violations of the anti-corruption laws, which may, depending

upon the circumstances, include: (a) anti-corruption representations and undertakings relating to

compliance with the anti-corruption laws; (b) rights to conduct audits of the books and records of

the agent or business partner to ensure compliance with the foregoing; and (c) rights to terminate

an agent or business partner as a result of any breach of the anti-corruption laws, the Company's

compliance code, policies, or procedures, or the representations and undertakings related to such

m atters.

Mergers and Acquisitions

l 6. The Company will develop and implement policies and procedures for mergers

and acquisitions requiring that the Company conduct appropriate risk-based due diligence on

potential new business entities, including appropriate FCPA and anti-corruption due diligence by

legal, accounting, and compliance personnel.

1 7. The Company will ensure that the Company's compliance code, policies, and

procedures regarding the anti-corruption Iaws apply as quickly as is practicable to newly

acquired businesses or entities merged with the Company and will promptly:

a. train the directors, officers, employees, agents, and business partners

consistent with Paragraph 8 above on the anti-corruption laws and the Company's compliance

code, policies, and procedures regarding anti-corruption laws; and

b. where warranted, conduct an FcpA-specific audit of a1l newly acquired

or merged businesses as quickly as practicable.
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M onitoring and Testing

1 8. The Company will conduct periodic reviews and testing of its anti-corruption

compliance code, policies, and procedures designed to evaluate and improve their effectiveness

in preventing and detecting violations of anti-corruption laws and the Company's anti-corruption

code, policies, and piocedures, lking into account relevant developments in the field and

evolving international and industry standards.
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ATTACHM ENT D

INDEPENDENT COM PLIANCE M ONITOR

The duties and authority of the Independent Compliance Monitor (the EtMonitor''), and

the obligàlionj A LATAM Airliizes Group S.A. tthe ttcompan/), on behalf of itself and its

subsidiaries and affiliates, with respect to the Monitor and the Department of Justice (the

trepartment'') are as described below:5

The Company will retain the M onitor for a period of not less than twenty-seven

' 

(27) months (the tû-rerm of the Monitorship''), unless the early termination provisions of

Paragraph 3 of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement (the ttAgreemenf') are triggered. Subject to

certain conditions specified below that would, in the sole discretion of the Department, allow for

an extension of the Term of the M onitorship, the M onitor shall be retained until the criteria in

Paragraphs 19-20 below are satisfied or the Agreement expires, whichever occurs first.

Monitor 's M andate

The M onitor's prim ary responsibility is to assess and monitor the Company's

compliance with the terms of the Agreement, including the Corporate Com pliance Program in

Attachment C, so as to specifically address and reduce the risk of any recurrence of the

Company's misconduct. During the Term of the M onitorship, the M onitor will evaluates in the

manner set forth below, the effectiveness of the internal accounting controls, record-keeping, and

snancial reporting policies and procedures of the Company as they relate to the Company's

current and ongoing compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws

(collectively, the ttanti-corruption laws'') and take such reasonable steps as, in his or her view,

- may be necessary to fulfill the foregoing mandate (the ttMandate''). This Mandate shall include

an assessment of the Board of Directors' and senior managem ent's commitment to, and effective
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implementation bf, the corporate compliance program described in Attachment C of the

Agreement.

Company '.ç Obligations

The Company shall côoperate fully with the M onitor
, and the M onitor shall have

the authority to take such reasonable steps as
, in his or her view, may be necessary to be fully

informed about the Company's compliance program in accordance with the principles set forth

herein and applicable law, including applicable data protection and labor laws and regulations
.

To that end, the Company shall: facilitate the M onitor's access to the Company's documents and

resources; not Iim it such access, except as provided in Paragraphs 5-6) and provide guidance on

applicable local law (such as relevant data protection and labor laws). The Company shall

provide the M onitor with access to all information, documents
, records, facilities, and

employees, as reasonably requested by the M onitor, that fall within the scope of the M andate of

the M onitor under the Agreement.The Company shall use its best efforts to provide the M onitor

with access to the Company's former employees and its third-party vendors, agents, and

consultants.

4. Any disclosure by the Company to the M onitor concerning corrupt paym ents,

false books and records, and internal accounting control failures shall not relieve the Company of

any otherwise applicable obligation to truthfully disclose such matters to the Departm ent,

pursuant to the Agreement.

Withholding Access

5. The parties agree that no attorney-client relationship shall be formed between the

Company and the M onitor. ln the event that the Company seeks to withhold from the M onitor

access to infonmation, documents, records, facilities, or current or former employees of the
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Company that may be subject to a claim of attorney-client privilege or to the attorney work-

product doctrine, or where the Company reasonably believes production would otherwise be

inconsistent with applicable law, the Company shall work cooperatively with the M onitor to

resolve the matter'to the satisfaction of the M oflitor.

6. lf the matter cannot be resolved
, at the request of the M onitor, th< Company shall

promptly provide written notice to the M onitor and the Department. Such notice shall include a

general description of the nature of the information, documents, records, facilities or current or

former employees that are being withheld, as well as the legal basis for withholding access
. The

Department may then consider whether to make a further request for access to such information
,

documents, records, facilities, or em ployees.

M onitor 's Coordination with the
Company and Review M ethodology

ln carrying out the M andate, to the extent appropriate under the circumstances,

the M onitor should coordinate with Company personnel, including in-house counsel
, compliance

personnel, and internal auditors, on an ongoing basis. The M onitor may rely on the product of

the Company's processes, such as the results of studies, reviews, sampling and testing

methodologies, audits, and analyses conducted by or on behalf of the Company, as well as the

Company's internal resources (e.g., legal, compliance, and internal audit), which can assist the

M onitor in carrying out the M andate through increased efficiency and Company-specific

expertise, provided that the M onitor has confidence in the quality of those resources.

8. The M onitor's reviews should use a risk-based approach, and thus, the M onitor is

not expected to conduct a compTehensive review of all business lines, all business activities, or

all markets. In carrying out the M andate, the M onitor should consider, for instance, risks

presented by: (a) the countries and industries in which the Company operates; (b) current and
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future business opportunities and transactions', (c) current and potential business partners,

including third parties andjoint ventures, and the business rationale for such relationships; (d)

the Company's gifts, travel, and entertainment interactions with foreign officials; and (e) the

Company's inkolvement with foreign officials, including the amount of foreign government

regulation and oversight of the Com pany, such as licensing and permitting, and the Company's

exposure to customs and imm igration issues in conducting its business affairs.

9. ln undertaking the reviews to carry out the M andate, the M onitor shall formulate

conclusions based on, among other things: (a) inspection of relevant documents, including the

Company's current anti-conuption policies and procedures; (b) on-site observation of selected

systems and procedures of the Company at sample sites, including internal accounting controls,

record-keeping, and internal audit procedures', (c) meetings with, and interviews of, relevant

current and, where appropriate, fonner directors, officers, employees, business partners, agents,

and other persons at mutually convenient times and places; and (d) analyses, studies, and testing

of the Company's compliance program.

M onitor 's Written Work Plans

To can'y out the M andate, during the Term of the M onitorship, the M onitor shall

conduct an initial review and prepare an initial report, followed by at least two follow-up reviews

and reports as described in Paragraphs 16-1 8 below. W ith respect to the initial report, after

consultation with the Company and the Department, the M onitor shall prepare the first written

work plan within forty-five (45) calendar days of being retained, and the Company and the

Department shall provide comments within twentpfive (25) calendar days after receipt of the

written work plan. W ith respect to each follow-up report, after consultation with the Company

and the Department, the Monitor shall prepare a written work plan at least thirty (30) calendar
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dàys prior to com mencing a review , and the Company and the Department shall' provide

comments within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the written work plan. Any disputes

between the Company and the M onitor with respect to any writlen work plan shall be decided by

the Department in its sole discretion.

1 l . All written work plans shall identify with reasonable specificity the activities the

M onitor plans to undertake in execution of the M andate
, including a written request for

documents. The M onitor's work plan for the initial review shall include such steps as are

reasonably necessary to conduct an effective initial review in accordance with the M andate
,

including by developing an understanding
, to the extent the M onitor deems appropriate, of the

facts and circumstances surrounding any violations that m ay have occurred before the date of the

Agreement. ln developing such understanding the M onitor is to rely to the extent possible on

available infonnation and documents provided by the Company. lt is not intended that the

M onitor will conduct his or her own inquiry into the historical events that gave rise to the

Agreement.

Initial Review

12. The initial review shall commence no later than ninety (90) calendar days from

the date of the engagement of the Monitor (unless otherwise agreed by the Company, the

M onitor, and the Department). The M onitor shall issue a written report within one hundred fifty

(1 50) calendar days of commencing the initial review, setting forth the Monitor's assessment

and, if necessary, making recommendations reasonably designed to improve the effectiveness of

the Company's program for ensuring compliance with the anti-corruption laws. The M onitor

should consult with the Company concerning his or her tindings and recom mendations on an

ongoing basis and should consider the Company's comments and input to the extent the M onitor
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deems appropriate. The M onitor may also chooke to shàre a draft of his or her reports witlz the

Company and the Department prior to finalizing them . The M onitor's reports need not recite or

describe comprehensively the Company's history or compliance policies
, procedures and

practices, but rather may focus on those areas with respect to which the M onitor wisbes to make

recommendations, if any, for improvement or which the M onitor otherwise concludes merit

particular attention. The M onitor shall provide the report to the Board of Directors of the

Company and contemporaneously transmit copies to the Chief - FCPA Unit
, Fraud Section,

Criminal Division, U.S. Department of Justice, at 1400 New York Avenue N .W ., Bond Building,

Eleventh Floor, W ashington, D.C. 20005. After consultation with the Company
, the M onitor

may extend the time period for issuance of the initial report for a brief period of time with prior

written approval of the Department.

13. Within ninety (90) calendar days after receiving the Monitor's initial report, the

Company shall adopt and implement all recommendations in the report, unless, within Gt-teen

(1 5) calendar days of receiving the report, the Company notifies in writing the Monitor and the

Department of any recommendations that the Company considers unduly burdensome,

inconsistent with applicable law or regulation, im practical, excessively expensive, or otherwise

inadvisable. W ith respect to any such recommendation, the Company need not adopt that

recommendation within the ninety (90) calendar days of receiving the report but shall propose in

writing to the M onitor and the Department an alternative policy, procedure, or system designed

to achieve the same objective or pumose. As to any recommendation on which the Company

and the M onitor do not agree, such parties shall attempt in good faith to reach an agreement

within Gfteen (15) calendar days after the Company serves the written notice.
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In the evènt the Company and the M onitor are unable to agree on an acceptabld

alternative proposal
, the Company shall promptly consult with the Department. The Department

may consider the M onitor's recomm endation and the Company's reasons for not adopting the

recommendation in determining whether the Company has fully complied with its obligations

under the Agreement. Pending such determination
, the Company shall not be required to

implement any contested recommendationts).

W ith respect to any recommendation that the M onitor determines cannot

reasonably be implemented within ninety (90) calendar days after receiving the report
, the

M onitor may extend the time period for implementation with prior written approval of the

Department.

First Follow-up Review

The fsrst follow-up review shall commence no later than ninety (90) calendar days

after the issuance of the initial report (unless otherwise agreed by the Company
, the M onitor and

the Department). The Monitor shall issue a written follow-up report within one hundred twenty

(120) calendar days of commencing the first follow-up review, setting forth the Monitor's

assessment and, if necessary, making recommendations in the same fashion as set forth in

Paragraph 12 with respect to the initial review . The M onitor shall also certify whether the

Company's compliance program, including its policies and procedures
, is reasonably designed

and implemented to prevent and detect violations of the anti-corruption laws. After consultation

with the Company, the M onitor may extend the time period for issuance of the first follow-up

report for a brief period of time with prior written approval of the Department.

W ithin ninety (90) calendar days after receiving the M onitor's first follow-up

report, the Company shall adopt and implement all recommendations in the report
, unless, within
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fifteen (15) calendar days after receiving the report, the Company notifies in writing the Monitor

and the Department concerning any recommendations that the Company considers unduly

burdensome, inconsistent with applicable law or regulation
s im practical, excessively expensive,

or otherwise inadvisable. W ith respect to any such recom mendation
, the Company need not

adopt that recommendation within the ninety (90) calendar days of receiving the report but shall

propose in writing to the M onitor and the Department an alternative policy
, procedure, or system

designed to achieve the same objective or purpose. As to any recommendation on which the

Company and the M onitor do not agree
, such parties shall attempt in good faith to reach an

agreement within fifteen (15) calendar days after the Company serves the written notice.

l 8. In the event the Com pany and the M onitor are unable to agree on an acceptable

alternative proposal, the Company shall promptly consult with the Department
. The Department

may considèr the M onitor's recommendation and the Company's reasons for not adopting the

recommendation in determining whether the Company has fully complied with its obligations

under the Agreement. Pending such determination, the Company shall not be required to

implement any contested recommendationts).

Second Follow-up Review

The second follow-up review shall commence no later than ninety (90) calendar

days after the issuance of the first follow-up report (unless otherwise agreed by the Company
, the

Monitor and the Department). The Monitor shall issue a written second follow-up report within

one hundred twenty (120) calendar days of commencing the second follow-up review
, setting

forth the M onitor's assessment and
, if necessary, making recommendations in the same fashion

as set forth in Paragraph 12 with respect to the initial review
. The M onitor shall also certify

whether the Company's compliance program
, including its policies and procedures, is reasonably
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designed and implemented to prevent and detect violations of tlze anti-corruption Iaws. After

consultation with the Company, the M onitor may extend the time period for issuance of the

follow-up report for a brief period of time with prior written approval of the Department
.

Within ninety (90) calendar days after receiving the Monitor's second follow-up

report, the Company shall adopt and implement all recommendations in the reporq unless
, within

Gfteen (1 5) calendar days after receiving the report, the Company notifies in writing the Monitor

and the Department concerning any recommendations that the Company considers unduly

burdensome, inconsistent with applicable Iaw or regulation
, impractical, excessively expensive,

or otherwise inadvisable. W ith respect to any such recommçndation
, the Company need not

adopt that recommendation within the ninety (90) calendar days of receiving the report but shall

propose in writing to the M onitor and the Department an alternative policy
, procedure, or system

designed to achieve the same objective or purpose. As to any recommendation on which the

Company and the M onitor do not agree, such parties shall attempt in good faith to reach an

agreement within fifteen (1 5) calendar days after the Company serves the written notice.

1 8. ln the event the Company and the M onitor are unable to agree on an acceptable

alternative proposal, the Company shall promptly consult with the Department
. The Department

may consider the M onitor's recommendation and the Company's reasons for not adopting the

recommendation in determ ining whether the Company has fully complied with its obligations

under the Agreement. Pending such determination
, the Company shall not be required to

implement any contested recommendationts).

Certscation ofcompliance
and Termination ofthe Monitorship

l9. At the conclusion of the ninety (90) calendar day period following the issuance of

the second follow-up reporq if the M onitor believes that the Company's compliance program is
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reasonablf designed and implemented to detect and prevent violations of the anti-corrup-tioh laws

and is functioning effectively
, the M onitor shall certify the Com pany's com pliance with its

compliance obligations under the Agreement
. The M onitor shall then subm it to the Depal-tment

a written report Cùcertification Repolf') within sixty (60) calendar days
. The Certification

Report shall set forth an overview of the Company's remediation efforts to date
, including the

implementation status of the M onitor's recommendations
, and an assessment of the sustainability

of the Company's remediation efforts. The Certification Report should also recom mend the

scope of the Company's future self-reporting
. Also at the conclusion of the ninety (90) calendar

day period following the issuance of the second follow-up report, the Company shall certify in

writing to the Department
, with a copy to the M onitor, that the Company has adopted and

implemented al1 of the M onitor's recommendations in the initial and follow
-up reportts), or the

agreed-upon alternatives. The M onitor or the Company may extend the time period for i
ssuance

of the Certification Report or the Company's certification
, respectively, with prior written

approval of the Department.

20. At such time as the Department approves the Certification Report and the

Company's certification
, the monitorship shall be terminated, and the Company w ill be perm itted

to self-report to the Department on its enhanced compliance obligations for the remainder of th
e

term of the Agreement. The Department, however, reserves the right to terminate the

monitorship absent certification by the M onitor
, upon a showing by the Company that

termination is, nevertheless, in the interests of justice.

21 . If permitted to self-report to the Department
, the Company shall thereafter submit

to the Department a written report every four (4) months setting forth a complete description of

its remediation efforts to date
, its proposals to improve the Company's .internal accounting
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controls, policies, and procedures for ensuring coinpliance-With the anti-corruption laws
, and the

proposed scope of the subsequent reviews. The report shall be transmitted to the Chief - FCPA

Unit, Fraud Section, Crim inal Division, U .S. Department of Justice, 1400 New York Avenue
,

N.W ., Bbnd Building, Eleventh Floor, W ashington, D.C. 20005. The Company nïay éxtend the

time period for issuance of the self-report with prior written approval of the Department
.

Extension ofthe Term ofthe Monitorshlp

If, however, at the conclusion of the ninety (90) calendar-day period following the

issuance of the second follow-up reporq the Department concludes that the Company has not by

that time successfully satistsed its compliance obligations under the Agreement
, the Term of the

M onitorship shall be extended for one year.

23. Under such circumstances, the M onitor shall commence the third follow-up

review no later than sixty (60) calendar days after the Department concludes that the Company

has not successfully satisfied its compliance obligations under the Agreement (unless otherwise

agreed by the Company, the Monitor, and the Department). The Monitor shall issue a written

follow-up report within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days of commencing the third

follow-up review in the same fashion as set forth in Paragraph 12 with respect to the initial

review and in accordance with the procedures for follow-up reports set forth in Paragraphs l 6--

1 8. A determination to terminate the monitorship shall then be made in accordance with

Paragraphs 19-20.

1f, after completing the third follow-up review, the Department again concludes

that the Company has not successfully satisfied its obligations under the Agreement with respect

to the M onitor's M andate, the Term of the M onitorship shall be extended until expiration of the

Agreement, and the Monitor shall commence a fourth follow-up review within sixty (60)
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calendar days after'thè'Depàrtinent concludes that the Company has not successf
ully satisfied its

compliance obligations under the Agreement (unless otherwise agreed by the Company
, the

Monitor, and the Department). The Monitor shall issue a written follow-up report within one

htmdted twenty ( l 20) calendar days of commencing thè third follow-up review in the same

fashion as set forth in Paragraph 12 with respect to the initial review and in 
accordance with the

procedures for follow-up report.s set forth in Paragraphs 16-18.

Monitor 's Discovery ofMisconduct

25. Should the M onitor, during the course of his or her engagement, discover that:

corrupt or otherwise suspicious payments (or transfers of property or

interests) may have been offered, promised, made, or authorized by any

entity or person within the Company or any entity or person working
,

directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of the Company; or

* false books and records may have been maintained by the Company

either (a) after the date on which this Agreement was signed or (b) that have not been adequately

dealt with by the Company (collectively :limproper activities'')
, the M onitor shall promptly

report such improper activities to the Company's General Counsel
, Chief Compliance Officer,

and/or Audit Comm ittee for further action
. lf the M onitor believes that any improper activities

m ay qonstitute a violation of Iaw , the M onitor also shall report such improper activities to the

Department. The M onitor should disclose improper activities in his or her discretion di
rectly to

the Department, and not to the Company
, only if the M onitor believes that disclosure to the

Company would be inappropriate under the circum stances
, and in such case should disclose the

improper activities to the General Counsel
, Chief Compliance Officer, and/or the Audit

Committee of the Company as promptly and completely as the M onitor deem s appropriate 
under
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the circumstances. The M onitor shall address in his or her reports the appropriateness of th
e

Company's response to all improper activities
, whether previously disclosed to the Department

or not. Further, in the event that the Company, or any entity or person working directly or

indirectly for or on behalf of the Company
, withholds information necessary for the performance

of the M onitor's responsibilities
, if the Monitor believes that such withholding is withoutjust

cause, the M onitor shall disclose that fact to the Department. The Company shall not Gke any

action to retaliate against the M onitor for any such disclosures or for any other reason
. The

M onitor shall report material criminal or regulatory violations by the Company or any other

entity discovered in the course of perfonning his or her duties
, in the same manner as described

above.

Meetings During Pendency ofMonitorshlp

26. The Monitor shall meet with the Department within thirty (30) calendar days after

providing each report to the Department to discuss the report
, to be followed by a meeting

between the Department, the M onitor, and the Company.

27. At least annually, and more frequently if appropriate
, representatives from the

Company and the Department will meet together to discuss the monitorship and any suggestions
,

comments, or improvements the Company may wish to discuss with or propose to the

Department, including with respect to the scope or costs of the monitorship
.

Contemplated Confdentiality t?f Monitor 's Reports

28. The reports will likely include proprietary
, snancial, confidential, and competitive

business information. M oreover
, public disclosure of the reports could discourage cooperation,

or impede pending or potential government investigations and thus undermine the objectives of

the monitorship. For these reasons
, among others, the reports and the contents thereof are
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intended to remain and shall remain non-public
, except as otherwise agreed to by the parties in

writing, or except to the extent that the Department determ ines in its sole discretion that

disclosure would be in furtherance of the Department's discharge of its duties and

responsibilities or is otherwise required by law .
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